FILED
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington
9/11/2019 8:00 AM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 11/13/2019 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 97843-3 Court of Appeals No. 35841-1-III

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION THREE
STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,
v.
EDWARD JEGLUM Appellant.
PETITION FOR REVIEW

Suzanne Lee Elliott

Attorney for Petitioner 1300 Hoge Building 705 Second Avenue Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 623-0291

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Edward Lee Jeglum, through his attorney, Suzanne Lee Elliott, seek review of the opinion designated in Part II.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

On the May 21, 2019, this Court entered a published opinion in *State v. Jeglum*, Wash. App. -, 442 P.3d 1 (2019). See Appendix 1-5. The mandate was issued on July 9, 2019. Jeglum has filed a motion to recall the mandate along with this Petition. He will file a motion to extend time to file the Petition in the Supreme Court if this Court recalls the mandate.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Did the Court of Appeals err when it proceeded without an acknowledgement by Jeglum that he was proceeding pro se and a colloquy to support his waiver of his right to counsel?
- 2. Did the Court of Appeals error in considering the trial court's January 18, 2016 order refusing to forfeit Jeglum's bail as a direct appeal under RAP 2.2(b) when an order refusing to forfeit bail is not a final judgment, an order suppressing evidence, an order vacating a judgment or an order granting a new trial?

- 3. Does the proposed forfeiture of \$100,000 cash bail on a failure to appear on a gross misdemeanor violate the Eighth Amendment's prohibition against excessive fines?
- 4. Was the State's motion to forfeit Jeglum's bail on January 18, 2018 precluded by the trial court's March 14, 2016 unchallenged order denying forfeiture when the State's 2018 motion was made more than 10 after March 14, 2016 and where the State failed to comply with the requisites of CR 59?
- 5. Did the Court of Appeals error in holding that a trial court has the ability to forfeit cash bail of \$100,000 after the defendant has appeared and been sentenced for a gross misdemeanor?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 15, 2015, Jeglum was charged in Chelan County Superior Court with stalking, in violation of RCW 9A.46.110(1) and (5)(b)(ii), two counts of violation of a no contact order, in violation of RCW 25.50.110(1). CP 2-5. The Court set bail at \$100,000. CP 6-8.

On March 22, 2019, Jeglum entered a plea to one count of violation of a no contact order. At sentencing the trial court rejected the agreed recommendation of 30 days in jail with credit for the 30 days he had already served and instead sentenced him to 9 months in jail and a

fines in the amount of \$700. CP 34-37. Defense counsel asked the court to release Jeglum's \$100,000 that day but the trial court directed defense counsel to set a hearing on the matter. 3/22/16 RP 60. Defense counsel never did so.

On January 18, 2018, the State set a hearing because the clerk's office wanted an order regarding the bail money. RP 65 (1/18/18).

Jeglum was not represented. The State did not file any pleadings. But the Court stated that it had done its own research and concluded that it could not forfeit the bail. CP 44-45. The trial judge also stayed his order for 30 days so that the State could "appeal."

The State subsequently filed a "Notice of Appeal." CP 46-47. It does not appear that at any point Jeglum was informed of his constitutional right to counsel to respond to the State's "appeal" or his statutory right to have counsel appointed if he was indigent.

The Court of Appeals heard and determined with State's appeal without any briefing from Jeglum. The Court concluded that the trial court misconstrued the existing precedent and held that the trial court had the power to forfeit bail even though Jeglum had appeared and the case had been concluded.

The remaining facts will be discussed below in the relevant sections.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

1. THE COURT OF APPEALS ERRED WHEN IT PROCEEDED WITHOUT AN ACKNOWLEDGEMENT BY JEGLUM THAT HE WAS PROCEEDING PRO SE AND ENGAGING IN A COLLOQUY TO SUPPORT HIS WAIVER OF HIS RIGHT TO COUNSEL

Review is merited on this issue because the procedure employed by the Court of Appeals in this case conflicts with *State v. Rafay*, 167 Wash. 2d 644, 652, 222 P.3d 86, 89 (2009) and raises a significant constitutional question about the state and federal right to counsel. RAP 13.4.(1) and (3).

On January 18, 2018, when the trial judge entered the order denying the State's motion to forfeit bond, Jeglum was unrepresented. There was no colloquy on the record to establish a waiver of his right to counsel. On the record the State indicated that it wanted a stay of the order returning the bond to Jeglum for 30-days so that it could consider filing "an appeal." The trial judge granted the stay but did not inform Jeglum of his right to be represented by counsel when responding to a State's "appeal" in a criminal case. Const. Art. 1, Sec. 22; RCW 10.73.150 (2).

The State filed its "appeal." Jeglum was not represented and clearly was ill-equipped to represent himself. He filed one request for a

continuance. In that request, it was clear he did not understand that he was required to file a written brief in response to the State's brief.

At no point did the Court of Appeals, or any other judicial body, advise Jeglum of his constitutional right to be represented or his statutory right to appointed counsel when the State "appeals."

The right to counsel attaches at all critical stages of criminal proceedings under article I, section 22. See *State v. Robinson*, 153 Wash.2d 689, 107 P.3d 90 (2005) (recognizing first appeal as critical stage). Courts recognize that a criminal defendant may waive counsel and proceed pro se so long as this waiver is knowing, intelligent, and voluntary. *State v. DeWeese*, 117 Wash.2d 369, 375–77, 816 P.2d 1 (1991). This rule applies to appellate proceedings in Washington. *Rafay*, *supra*.

A defendant who wishes to waive the right to counsel and exercise the right to self-representation—even at a trial court's prompting—must make "an unequivocal request to represent himself". *State v. Woods*, 143 Wash.2d 561, 587–88, 23 P.3d 1046 (2001); *City of Tacoma v. Bishop*, 82 Wash.App. 850, 856–61, 920 P.2d 214 (1996). Because an accused managing his own defense "relinquishes ... many of the traditional benefits associated with the right to counsel," he "must 'knowingly and intelligently' forgo those relinquished benefits" in order to represent

himself. *Faretta v. California*, 422 U.S. 806, 95 S. Ct. 2525, 45 L. Ed. 2d 562 (1975).

In *Rafay* at 652, the Court said:

Thus, in both trial and appellate proceedings, courts must carefully balance the dissonant rights to counsel and to self-representation when a defendant seeks to proceed pro se. To this end, courts should be guided by the substantial body of law addressing appointment and waiver of counsel at all critical stages of criminal proceedings.

That body of law requires a colloquy during which the Court determines that any waiver is knowing, intelligent, and voluntary, *DeWeese*, at 375–77.

Here no court advised Jeglum that he had a right to have counsel defend him in the Court of Appeals. And, no court advised him that if he could not afford counsel, he had a right to appointed counsel.

The failure to appoint counsel was prejudicial to Jeglum because the Court of Appeals decided the matter without any challenge to the State's portrayal of the facts. The State cited to the sentencing judges statement that Jeglum had willfully "dragged the legal proceeding beyond a point I thought was possible." RP 57 (3-22-26). The Court of Appeals cited this statement in its opinion. But had Jeglum been represented, his counsel would have pointed out that resolution was delayed when the *State* sought a competency hearing on February 18, 2015 and received an

order for a competency evaluation on November 30, 2015. This accounted for a full nine months of delay not attributable to Jeglum. App 6-7, and Jeglum had permission to leave the State. App. 9-11.

Further briefing by the defense would have demonstrated that the Court of Appeals factual finding – one not made by the trial court – that Jeglum had "committed a fraud on the court" was incorrect. It is unclear how the Court came to that conclusion. On March 3, 2016, the trial court held a hearing to address Jeglum's health issues and why they were preventing his return to Washington. Defense counsel called the doctor who was supervising Jeglum's care in Arizona. RP 6 (3/3/16). But the trial judge refused to hear from that doctor because she wanted to hear from the person who was "actively treating" Jeglum. *Id.* at 9. This was despite the fact that the doctor made it clear he was supervising Jeglum's care and had reviewed Jeglum's medical records. *Id.* at 8, App. 12.

Jeglum was also prejudiced because the Order refusing to forfeit bail was not directly appealable. See Issue 2 below. Appointed counsel would have objected to the State's end run around the rules governing appeals by the State.

This Court should accept review and hold that, in light of the decision in *Rafay*, the Court of Appeals was prohibited from proceeding

without insuring that Jeglum had waived his right to counsel and was asserting his right to proceed pro se in response to the State's "appeal."

2. THIS COURT SHOULD REVERSE THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION BECAUSE THE TRIAL COURT'S ORDER REFUSING TO FORFEIT JEGLUM'S CASE BAIL WAS NOT APPEALABLE AS A MATTER OF RIGHT.

The question of whether the State improperly filed an appeal, as opposed to a Notice of Discretionary Review, thereby circumventing the standards for granting discretionary review, is a question of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

The State filed a Notice of Appeal in this case and this Court heard the matter as a direct appeal. This was error. The State is permitted to file a Notice of Appeal in only of a final order that discontinues the criminal proceedings, a pretrial order suppressing evidence, an order arresting judgment or granting a new trial, and certain juvenile or sentencing decision. RAP 2.2(b). Otherwise the State's only recourse was via discretionary review under RAP 2.3(b). Under that rule, the State would have been forced to demonstrate that the superior court committed probable or obvious error which would render further proceedings useless, substantially altered the status quo, so far departed from the accepted and usual course of judicial proceedings as to call for review by the appellate court or the State would have be required to seek certification of its issue.

Had the State been required to do so, the Court of Appeals likely would not have granted review. The trial judge did not commit obvious or probable error. His ruling conformed to the controlling decisions in *State v. Paul*, 95 Wash. App. 775, 976 P.2nd 1272 (1999). Moreover, nothing in the record would have supported an argument that the superior court departed from the accepted and usual course of judicial proceedings. And, as argued below, *Paul* was based upon controlling precedent from this Court and the Court of Appeals has no power to overrule this Court's precedent.

Further, at no time did the State demonstrate that it met the strict standard for overruling precedent: the earlier decision must be both incorrect and harmful. *State v. Devin*, 158 Wash.2d 157, 168, 142 P.3d 599 (2006). As argued below, this case demonstrates why *Paul* was correctly decided.

This Court should grant review and clarify that, where the State improperly seeks direct review rather than discretionary review, the remedy is reversal for a new proceeding where the State must make the proper showing under RAP 2.3(b) before any review is undertake by the Court of Appeals.

3. THE FORFEITURE OF \$100,000 CASH BAIL ON A MISDEMEANOR VIOLATES THE CONSTITUTIONAL PROHIBITION ON EXCESSIVE FINES.

This is a significant question of federal constitutional law. RAP 13.4(b)(3).

On March 22, 2016, Jeglum entered a plea to a gross misdemeanor – violation of a no contact order. The maximum fine for a gross misdemeanor is \$5,000. The State is seeking to forfeit \$100,000 after Jeglum was returned, entered a plea and served his time. The amount the State seeks is 20 times the permissible fine for a gross misdemeanor.

The Supreme Court has indicated that, under the Eighth Amendment's prohibition against excessive fines, a determination of "punishment" for excessive fines purposes is conceptually distinct from other purposes. See *United States v. Ursery*, 518 U.S. 267, 282-83, 116 S.Ct. 2135, 135 L.Ed.2d 549 (1996) (highlighting the difference between punishment under the Double Jeopardy Clause and the Excessive Fines Clause); see also *Hudson v. United States*, 522 U.S. 93, 102-03, 118 S.Ct. 488, 139 L.Ed.2d 450 (1997). In the seminal case of *Austin v. United States*, 509 U.S. 602, 113 S.Ct. 2801, 125 L.Ed.2d 488 (1993), the Court considered an excessive fines challenge to a civil forfeiture statute. According to the Court in *Austin*, "a civil sanction that cannot fairly be said solely to serve a remedial purpose, but rather can. only be explained

as also serving either retributive or deterrent purposes, is punishment," *Id.* at 610. Consequently, if the forfeiture here served the purpose of retribution or deterrence, it is subject to Eighth Amendment scrutiny. See also *State v. WWJ Corp.*, 138 Wn.2d 595, 603-04, 980 P.2d 1257, 1261 (1999).

The WWJ Corp, case, also applied the "excessive" test established in United States v. Bajakajian, 524 U.S. 321, 118 S.Ct. 2028, 141 L.Ed.2d 314 (1998). Under the Bajakajian test, "a punitive forfeiture violates the Excessive Fines Clause if it is grossly disproportional to the gravity of a defendant's offense." Id., at 334. In Bajakajian, the Supreme Court held that the criminal forfeiture of \$357,144, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 982(a)(1) and 31 U.S.C. § 5316, violated the Excessive Fines Clause where the defendant's criminal violation was "unrelated to any other illegal activities" and the money subject to forfeiture was not the proceeds of illegal activity. Id. at 338-40.

The object of bail is to guarantee the appearance of the accused before the court at such times as the court may direct. It is not a revenue measure in lieu of a fine, or a method to punish sureties. *State v. Darwin*, 70 Wash. App. 875, 877, 856 P.2d 401, 403 (1993) citing *State v. Jackshitz*, 76 Wash. 253, 136 P. 132 (1913). Here, the Court of Appeals opinion suggests that even after Jeglum had reappeared, entered a plea and

was sentence, the trial court had the power to forfeit twenty times the amount of any fine was permissible because Jeglum "dragged out the proceedings." The Court of Appeals also noted that Jeglum filed to run against the sitting judge but failed to note that that was after judgment and sentence had been entered. App. 14. In short, the Court of Appeals made an unsupported findings of fact to conclude that Jeglum "committed a fraud on court."

Under the circumstance, the Court of Appeals' conclusion that trial court had the discretion to forfeit the bail clearly approves a punitive use of bail forfeitures of cash bail.

Furthermore, the Court of Appeals seemed to reason that there were no other measures by which the trial court could punish Jeglum.

But, when Jeglum failed to appear, the State could have filed bail jumping, RCW 9A.76.170 or contempt of court charges, RCW 7.21.040. In both situations, the State would have had the burden of establishing that Jeglum's actions were willful beyond a reasonable doubt. But instead, the State made allegations about Jeglum's medical conditions and motivations without having to present admissible evidence or otherwise prove Jeglum's alleged "fraud" on the Court.

4. THE STATE'S MOTION TO FOREIT BOND ON JANUARY 18, 2018 IS PRECLUDED BY THE TRIAL COURT'S MARCH 14, 2016 ORAL ORDER DENYING THE STATE'S PREVIOUS REQUEST FOR FORFEITURE.

This is a question of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

On March 3, 2016, the Court issued a warrant for Jeglum's arrest because he failed to appear for previously scheduled hearings. On March 14, 2016, Jeglum was returned to Chelan County by a bail bondsman. The State noted that on March 3, 2016, the trial judge had "reserved" on the issue of forfeiting the \$100,000 cash bail. RP 26 (3/14/16). The State asked for forfeiture of the cash and a "no bail" order. *Id.* at 28. Defense counsel was present and objected. Id at 30. The trial court ruled as follows:

Well, on the hundred thousand, cash, the Court's going to hang on to that, for now. The Court's not going to forfeit it. But it's not going to allow access to it by Mr. Jeglum.

Id. at 31. The Court then set a new bail amount of \$1 million dollars. Id.

Thus, contrary to the Court of Appeals opinion, the trial court did not "reserve" ruling on March 14. The Court made a ruling. In fact, when the trial court raised the bail amount from \$100,000 to \$1,000,000, it essentially exonerated the \$100,000 bail previously posted. There was no legal basis for the Court to continue to hold the \$100,000 thereby preventing Jeglum to use those funds to secure a bond from a bail bondsman for the new \$1,000,000 amount. Moreover, at that point, if the

State disagreed with the trial court's order refusing to forfeit the bail, it should have filed a motion for discretionary review. But it did not do so.

At best, the hearing in January 18, 2018 was an untimely motion to reconsider. The criminal court rules supersede conflicting procedural rules and statutes. CrR 1.1. Otherwise, the criminal procedures are "interpreted and supplemented" by other appropriate rules, law, and practice. CrR 1.1. No criminal rule is in conflict with the civil rule describing motions for reconsideration, therefore, the CR 59 applies in criminal cases and provides the procedure and authority for the superior court to reconsider its own rulings.

Under CR 59, the State was required to seek reconsideration within ten days of the March 14, 2016 ruling denying forfeiture. It did not do so.

The State was also required to identify the specific reasons in fact and law as to each ground on which the motion is based. CR 59. It did not do so. And the State may seek reconsideration only if it can establish:(1) Irregularity in the proceedings; (2) Misconduct of prevailing party or jury; (3) Accident or surprise; (4) Newly discovered evidence; (5) Damages so excessive or inadequate as unmistakably to indicate that the verdict must have been the result of passion or prejudice; (6) Error in the assessment of the amount of recovery; (7) That there is no evidence or reasonable inference from the evidence to justify the verdict or the decision, or that it

is contrary to law; (8) Error in law occurring at the trial and objected to at the time by the party making the application; or (9) That substantial justice has not been done.

The State failed to identify how its motion to reconsider forfeiture satisfied any of these criteria. In fact, the State did not file any motion.

Instead it noted the matter because the Clerk's office wanted to know what to do with the cash posted by Jeglum. The trial court properly concluded that the law required the Clerk to return the money to Jeglum.

5. THE COURT OF APPEALS FAILED TO RECOGNIZE THAT THE DECISION IN *PAUL* WAS IN KEEPING WITH THE ESTABLISHED PRECEDENT FROM THIS COURT. THUS, ITS DECISION CONFLICTS WITH DECISIONS FROM THIS COURT.

Review is should be granted because the Court of Appeals opinion conflicts with this Court's opinions in *State v. Akers*, 156 Wash. 353, 355, 286 P. 846 (1930); *State v. Caruso*, 137 Wash. 519, 524, 243 P. 14 (1926). RAP 13.4(b)(1). In a criminal case, the sole purpose of bail is to ensure the appearance of the accused. When the accused appears, the conditions of the bail have been fulfilled, and the court must give the money back. *State v. Paul*, supra, citing *State v. Ransom*, 34 Wash.App. 819, 822-24, 664 P.2d 521 (1983). The trial court followed this black letter law when refusing to forfeit Jeglum's \$100,000 cash bond 14 months after Jeglum

appeared, entered a plea, was sentenced and completed his term of imprisonment.

The Court of Appeals appeared to treat *Paul* and *Ransom* as the only controlling authority. Thus, the Court of Appeals overruled *Paul* and *Ransom* and instructed the trial court that it had the authority to forfeit Jeglum's bail. But this Court has consistently held that a bail bond is discharged when the principal is found guilty, sentenced and committed. *Akers*, at 355; *Caruso*, at 524. But Division III of the Court of Appeals cannot overrule or ignore *Akers* and *Caruso*. The Court of Appeals erred in ignoring those decisions.

Moreover, this case demonstrates why the rule expressed in *Akers* and *Caruso* should control. When the State seeks to forfeit bail after the defendant has appeared and served his sentence, the forfeiture can be based on improper reasons. Here the Court of Appeals opinion suggests that the bail can be forfeited to punish the defendant for continuing the case or taking actions the Court disapproves of - like filing a notice of candidacy against a sitting judge or committing what the Court of Appeals deemed a "fraud." But the only purpose of bail is to ensure the defendant's appearance.

Here, after the warrant was issued on March 3, 2016, Jeglum appeared, plead and was sentenced. If the trial court believed forfeiture

was appropriate, it was required to enter order before the judgment was entered and Jeglum was jailed. That would remove any suggestion that the forfeiture is based on improper reasons. Moreover, the trial court continued to hold the \$100,000 because it wanted to prevent Jeglum from bailing out on the new \$1,000,000 bail amount. In essence the Court made a new bail decision. Since Jeglum appeared and entered a plea a few days later, the \$100,000 held by the court served the purpose of insuring Jeglum's appearance. Thus, it should have been returned to him after the sentence was entered.

VI. CONCLUSION

The Court should accept review of the important issues raised in this case.