FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
1/22/2020 10:36 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 97843-3

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Court of Appeals No. 35841-1-III

Chelan County Superior Court Cause No. 15-1-00084-6

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Plaintiff/Respondent,

v.

EDWARD LEE JEGLUM, Defendant/Petitioner.

### RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Douglas J. Shae Chelan County Prosecuting Attorney

C. Kurt Parrish WSBA #49735 Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

Chelan County Prosecuting Attorney's Office P.O. Box 2596 Wenatchee, Washington 98807-2596 (509) 667-6204

###

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

### IV. ARGUMENT

## A. MR. JEGLUM'S RIGHT TO COUNSEL WAS NOT INFRINGED.

Mr. Jeglum's right to counsel was not violated because he had been previously represented by privately retained attorneys, he was not indigent, and he had been advised of his right to counsel at arraignment. *See* Appendix I. On August 30, 2017, when the issue regarding forfeiture of bail was addressed, Mr. Jeglum requested additional time to retain counsel; he noted he had just received notice and was not prepared. CP 40. The court continued the matter to September 13, 2017. *Id.* On that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The superior court in doing its own research came upon the case of *State* v. *Navarro* and discussed it with the parties. *State* v. *Navarro*, No. 28230-9-III (Unpublished 2010).

date, Mr. Jeglum noted that he had tried contacting an attorney but it had been too short of notice and, as a result, requested additional time. CP 41. Further, the hand-written letter from Mr. Jeglum to the Court of Appeals on September 16, 2018, did not, as he argues, indicate his inability to "understand that he was required to file a written brief in response to the State's brief." Resp. Br. at 5. Rather, it shows that he was purportedly under that belief previously, and he learned on September 14, 2018, that he was indeed required to file such a brief. At that time, the Court allowed him until October 16, 2018 to file his responsive brief.

A review of the record reflects that Mr. Jeglum was not and had never been indigent during the course of the trial court proceedings. As a result, the authority cited by Mr. Jeglum in his Petition for Review is inapplicable. RCW 10.73.150(2) applies to adult offenders convicted of a crime, responding to an appeal filed by the State when the offender is indigent.

Mr. Jeglum takes the position that the procedure employed by the Court of Appeals in this matter conflicts with *State v. Rafay*, 167 Wn.2d 644, 222 P.3d 86 (2009). In that case, the criminal defendant/appellant specifically requested to appear *pro se* and allow his court-appointed counsel to withdraw. This Court ultimately held that Art. I, § 22 of the

Washington Constitution guarantees a criminal defendant's right of self-representation on appeal. *Id.* at 656. The Court stressed the importance of individual autonomy with respect to the rights of the accused: "It remains he who bears the personal cost if his bid is unsuccessful. Because the right to appeal, like the other rights enumerated in Art. I, § 22, must be personally held, the provision as a whole must be construed as guaranteeing a right of self-representation on appeal." *Id.* at 651.

appointed an attorney if indigence had been established. But Mr. Jeglum was not the appellant. He held no right to appeal in this instance. He was not indigent, and he knew that there was a schedule for briefing on appeal; this is evident from his correspondence with the Court of Appeals. Further, *Rafay* is inapplicable because Mr. Jeglum never asserted his right to proceed *pro se*, and if anything, this case is further confirmation of Mr. Jeglum's right to proceed as he did. Indeed, he proceeded with perfect autonomy. He was a non-indigent *pro se* respondent, and he failed to respond to the State's brief.

# B. THE DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS WAS NOT IN CONFLICT WITH ANY OTHER APPELLATE COURT DECISION.

Despite Mr. Jeglum's arguments to the contrary, the decision of the Court of Appeals below was not in conflict with any Supreme Court decisions nor any published decisions of the Court of Appeals. The issue in the decision below was squarely limited to whether the trial court abused its discretion by misconstruing existing law on the ability of a trial court to forfeit cash bail after the defendant reappears in court and after entry of the judgment and sentence. *State v. Jeglum*, 8 Wn. App. 2d 960, 961, 442 P.3d 1 (2019).

The court did not overrule *State v. Paul*, 95 Wn. App. 775, 976 P.2d 1272 (1999), or *State v. Ransom*, 34 Wn. App. 819, 664 P.2d 521 (1983). The court distinguished their facts from Mr. Jeglum's case. In *Paul*, the trial court forfeited cash bail for the purpose of applying towards her restitution obligation. *Paul*, 95 Wn. App. at 777. The court below confirmed that this was improper for defendants who had appeared at all court hearings, but this was not the case for individuals who had missed one or more court hearings. *Jeglum*, 8 Wn. App. 2d at 966-67. This is consistent with the relevant Superior Court Criminal Rule.

If the accused has been released on the accused's own recognizance, on bail, or has deposited money instead thereof, and does not appear when the accused's personal appearance is necessary or violated conditions of release, the court, in addition to the forfeiture of the recognizance, or of the money deposited, may direct the clerk to issue a bench warrant for the accused's arrest.

### CrR 3.2(o).

In *Ransom*, the defendant fled just after the court-imposed sentence and before a deputy could take him in to custody. *Ransom*, 34 Wn. App. at 821. The trial court then ordered forfeiture of his cash bail. *Id*. This was improper because the defendant had complied with the conditions of his cash bail. *Id*. at 824-25.

Mr. Jeglum argues that the holding below is in conflict with established Supreme Court precedent in *State v. Akers*, 156 Wash. 353, 286 P. 846 (1930), and *State v. Caruso*, 137 Wash. 519, 243 P. 14 (1926). However, *Akers* and *Caruso* involved the forfeiture of a *bond*, rather than the cash bail at issue in Mr. Jeglum's case. As noted below, citing *In re Marriage of Bralley*, 70 Wn. App. 646, 855 P.2d 1174 (1993), the underlying legal theories behind bail bonds and cash bail are different; in bail bonds the law looks to the surety to guarantee the defendant's appearance, while in cash bail the law looks to the money already in the hands of the state to insure defendant's appearance. *Id.* at 653.

Mr. Jeglum did not even remotely satisfy his bail conditions. He fled the jurisdiction without permission for months after dragging his cases out for years—beyond which the trial court ever thought possible. RP 57 (3-22-16). He refused to return to the jurisdiction. He refused to stay in contact with his lawyer. He refused to call into court—instead sending a facsimile letter the morning of his hearing on March 3, 2016. He perpetuated a fraud upon the court by obtaining a letter from a dubious medical outfit stating that travel was not recommended—as opposed to travel being actually harmful to his health—even though Dr. Zamani never examined him and did not possess the necessary specialized training to examine him. He untruthfully claimed to be receiving around the clock care in an assisted living facility. The bail bondsman on his other cases had to arrest and retrieve him. The defendant took no actions to remedy the situation or take responsibility for his disruptive behavior. He "made a mockery of the legal system." RP 57 (3-22-16).

As the court in *Paul* noted, if the defendant fails to appear, the cash bail is supposed to be forfeited and when the defendant reappears the court has the *discretion* to decide whether to give that money back or not. *Paul*, 95 Wn. App. at 778. Under *Paul*, the trial court here should have forfeited

the cash bail when the defendant failed to appear and then held its hearing upon reappearance on whether to vacate the forfeiture.

Notably, when a defendant out on bond is returned to custody, forfeiture of that bond is dictated by timing and whether the bail bondsperson "was directly responsible for producing the defendant in court or directly responsible for apprehension of the person by law enforcement." RCW 10.19.140. Although this statute does not apply to cash bail, it would be proper for the court when fashioning a procedure and remedy "conformable to the spirit of the laws" under RCW 2.28.150 to look to RCW 10.19.140 for guidance. Because the defendant did not return himself to court and did not surrender himself to law enforcement in Washington or in Arizona, exoneration of the bail is discretionary, not mandatory. *Paul*, 95 Wn. App. at 778 ("If the defendant does not appear, the cash bail is forfeited. If the defendant is subsequently apprehended, the court has the discretion to vacate the bail forfeiture or not.").

Furthermore, unlike the bail bondsperson, a defendant who posts his own bail is entitled to no leniency with regard to return of his bail money when he fails to appear in court as required. *State v. Ohm*, 145 Wash. 197, 259 P. 382 (1927). In *Ohm*, the defendant pleaded guilty, but fled to Oregon prior to sentencing. *Id.* at 197. The trial court forfeited the

defendant's cash bail. *Id.* When the defendant was finally apprehended and sentenced, he sought return of his cash bail, and the court denied his motion. *Id.* On appeal, the Supreme Court noted that different policies apply to bail by surety (i.e. bail bonds) versus cash bail posted by the defendant. With respect to the former, "courts are lenient in relieving bondsmen from a forfeiture where they have been diligent in returning the person who has forfeited his bail to the processes of the courts." *Id.* at 198. This is so because doing otherwise would discourage people from offering bail bonds. *Id.* With respect to the latter, "the law is rigorous" and the "offender is entitled to no leniency" where it appears the defendant's purpose in posting the bail "is to escape the penalties of a crime." *Id.* 

#### V. CONCLUSION

Given the Washington Supreme Court's admonishment in *Ohm* that defendants are entitled to no leniency regarding bail exoneration after jumping bail, it would seem clear that it would not violate the spirit of the law for the court to hear the State's forfeiture motion under RCW 2.28.150 under the circumstances presented by this case. As a result, the trial court had the authority to forfeit the defendant's cash bail even after he reappeared in court and was sentenced.

The remaining issues raised by Mr. Jeglum are ones that were not raised below, and as a result, review by this Court would be inappropriate.

RAP 2.5(a).

No basis for review under RAP 13.4(b) has been established in this case, and as a result, the State respectfully requests that this Court deny the Petition for Review.